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The following is a summary of basic procurement requirements for cities.  Other TML Risk Pool 

members, such as ESDs, water or other special districts, authorities, and others, are welcome to 

contact the Pool for procurement information, but any member should always consult with local 

legal counsel prior to making purchases. (The Texas Rural Water Association has prepared a 

contracting Q&A for water districts.) 

 

When is a city required to competitively procure goods and services? 

 

With limited exceptions, before a city enters a contract that requires an expenditure of more than 

$50,000, it must comply with the procedures for competitive sealed bidding or competitive 

sealed proposals in Chapter 252 of the Texas Local Government Code. As an alternative to 

competitive sealed bidding or proposals, a city may use the following procurement methods: (1) 

the reverse auction procedure for purchasing in Section 2155.062(d) of the Government Code; 

(2) a cooperative purchasing program under Subchapters D and F of Chapter 271 of the Local 

Government Code; or (3) a method described by Chapter 2269 of the Government Code 

(alternative procurement methods for city construction projects).  TEX. LOC. GOV’T CODE § 

252.022(a).     

 

Note that a city may use competitive sealed proposals for the purchase of any goods or services, 

including high technology items and insurance.  However, construction projects must generally 

be procured using competitive bidding or specific alternative methods (discussed below). Id. § 

252.021(b). 

 

What criteria may a city use when competitively procuring a contract? 

 

For general procurement of goods or services (as discussed below, special rules may apply to 

construction procurement), a contract must be awarded to: (a) the lowest responsible bidder, or 

(b) the bidder who provides goods or services at the “best value.”  TEX. LOC. GOV’T CODE § 

252.043. When determining “best value,” the city may consider factors other than the purchase 

price of the goods and services, including among other things: (1) the reputation of the bidder 

and the bidder’s goods or services; (2) the quality of the bidder’s goods or services; (3) the 

bidder’s past relationship with the city; and/or (4) any other lawful criteria. Id. 
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The city must indicate in the bid specifications and requirements that the contract will be 

awarded either to the lowest responsible bidder or to the bidder who provides goods or services 

at the “best value” for the city. Id. 

 

In addition, two provisions authorize the use of “local preference” when awarding a contract:   

 

• A city may consider a bidder’s principal place of business when a city awards a contract 

for real or personal property. Id. § 271.905. The provision provides that, if a city receives 

one or more bids from a bidder whose principal place of business is in the city and whose 

bid is within three percent of the lowest bid price of a non-resident, the city may pick the 

resident bidder after a written determination that the decision is in the best interests of the 

city. Id. This is a useful provision for awarding contracts, but it appears to be directed 

towards the purchase of tangible items, rather than services.   

 

• Section 271.9051 authorizes a city to give a preference to a local bidder when a awarding 

a contract for personal property or services if: (1) the local bid is within five percent of 

the lowest bid that isn’t local, and (2) the city’s governing body finds in writing that the 

local bid offers the best combination of price and economic development factors such as 

local employment and tax revenues. Section 271.9051 is limited to a contract for 

construction services in an amount of less than $100,000 or a contract for other purchases 

in an amount of less than $500,000. Id. § 271.9051.   

 

What are common exemptions from the competitive procurement requirements? 

 

A city does not have to comply with competitive procurement requirements for certain 

expenditures, even if the expenditure is over $50,000.  The most common exemptions are as 

follows (see Section 252.022(a) of the Local Government Code for a complete list of 

exemptions): 

 

• A procurement made because of a public calamity that requires the immediate 

appropriation of money to relieve the necessity of the municipality’s residents or to 

preserve the property of the municipality.  TEX. LOC. GOV’T CODE §252.022(a)(1). 

• A procurement necessary to preserve or protect the public health or safety of the 

municipality's residents.  Id. §252.022(a)(2). 

• A procurement necessary because of unforeseen damage to public machinery, equipment, 

or other property.  Id. §252.022(a)(3). 

• A procurement for personal, professional, or planning services.  (Note:  Certain 

professional services, however, must be procured through a competitive selection process 

under Chapter 2254 of the Government Code (the Professional Services Procurement 

Act)).  Id. §252.022(a)(4). 

• A purchase of land or a right-of-way.  Id. §252.022(a)(6). 

• A procurement of items that are available from only one source.  Id. §252.022(a)(7). 

 

Whether to use any of the exemptions is up to each city, and the decision should be made based 

on the advice of local legal counsel. 



 3 

 

When is a city required to contact historically underutilized businesses (HUBs) when 

making a purchase? 

 

A city, in making an expenditure of more than $3,000 but less than $50,000, shall contact at least 

two HUBs on a rotating basis, based on information provided by the Texas Comptroller’s Office 

pursuant to Chapter 2161 of the Government Code (http://cpa.state.tx.us/procurement/prog/hub/).  

If the list fails to identify a HUB in the county in which the city is located, the city is exempt.  

TEX. LOC. GOV’T CODE §252.0215. 

 

What are the purchasing rules regarding city construction projects? 

 

For construction projects that involve the construction of a municipal facility (defined as any 

improvement to real property), a city may use any of the alternative procurement methods set out 

in Chapter 2269 of the Texas Government Code. TEX. LOC. GOV’T CODE § 252.043. The only 

limitation is that design-build and job order contracting may not be used to procure civil 

engineering projects, except in limited circumstances.  The alternative methods are:  

 

• Competitive bidding (awarded based on “best value” criteria, which is different than the 

“lowest responsible bidder” competitive bidding processes in Chapter 252/Chapter 271, 

Subchapter B). TEX. GOV’T CODE § 2269.101. 

• Competitive sealed proposals. Id. § 2269.151 et seq.  

• Construction manager agent. Id. § 2269.201 et seq. 

• Construction manager at risk. Id. § 2269.251 et seq. 

• Design-build. Id. § 2269.301 et seq.  (A handful of very large cities – those over 100,000 

in population – may use design-build for a limited number of civil engineering projects. 

Id. § 2269.351 et seq.) 

• Job order contract. (May be used only for buildings, and not for civil engineering 

projects.) Id. § 2269.401 et seq. 

 

For each of the methods listed above, a city awards the contract to the contractor who provides 

the “best value” to the city based on the selection criteria established by the city in its 

procurement documents.  The selection criteria may generally include factors other than the 

construction cost, including among other things: (1) the reputation of the contractor and the 

contractor’s goods or services; (2) the quality of the contractor’s goods or services; and (3) the 

contractor’s past relationship with the city. Id. § 2269.055. 

 

What effect does a home rule charter provision have on state purchasing rules? 

 

Any provision in the charter of a home rule city that relates to the notice of contracts, 

advertisement of the notice, requirements for the taking of sealed bids based on specifications for 

public improvements or purchases, the manner of publicly opening bids or reading them aloud, 

or the manner of letting contracts that conflicts with Chapter 252 controls unless the governing 

body elects to have Chapter 252 supersede the charter. TEX. LOC. GOV’T CODE § 252.022.   

 

What is a cooperative purchasing program? 

http://cpa.state.tx.us/procurement/prog/hub/
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Chapter 271, Subchapters D and F, of the Local Government Code (Cooperative Purchasing 

Programs) authorize cities to enter cooperatives with the state or other local governments for the 

purpose of procuring goods and services.  The state purchasing cooperative is online at 

http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement/, and a joint TML/Texas Association of School 

Board cooperative is online at www.tml.org.  In addition, several councils of governments offer 

cooperative purchasing. A local government that purchases goods or services under subchapter F 

satisfies any state law requiring the local government to seek competitive bids for the purchase 

of the goods or services.  TEX. LOC. GOV’T CODE § 252.102(c). 

 

What is reverse auction procurement? 

 

Section 2155.062(d) of the Texas Government Code authorizes the use of the reverse auction 

method for the purchase of goods and services.  A reverse auction procedure is: (1) real-time 

bidding process usually lasting less than one hour and taking place at a previously scheduled 

time and Internet location in which multiple suppliers, anonymous to each other, submit bids to 

provide the designated goods or services; or (2) a bidding process usually lasting less than two 

weeks and taking place during a previously scheduled period and at a previously scheduled 

Internet location, in which multiple suppliers, anonymous to each other, submit bids to provide 

the designated goods or services.  TEX. GOV’T CODE §2155.062(d).   

 

What are the penalties for failing to comply with competitive procurement laws? 

 

Regarding Local Government Code Chapter 252, a contract made without compliance is void, 

and performance of the contract may be enjoined by any property tax paying resident or a person 

who submitted a bid for a contract to which the competitive sealed bidding requirement applies, 

regardless of residency, if the contract is for the construction of public works. TEX. LOC. GOV’T 

CODE § 252.061. The specific criminal penalties are as follows: 

 

• A municipal officer or employee who intentionally or knowingly makes or authorizes 

separate, sequential, or component purchases to avoid the competitive procurement 

requirements of Chapter 252 commits a Class B misdemeanor. Id. § 252.062.   

• A municipal officer or employee who intentionally or knowingly violates the competitive 

procurement requirements of Chapter 252 commits a Class B misdemeanor. Id. 

• A municipal officer or employee who intentionally or knowingly violates Chapter 252 

other than by conduct described above commits a Class C misdemeanor. Id. 

 

A final conviction for an offense constituting a Class B misdemeanor results in the immediate 

removal of that person from office or employment.  For a period of four years following 

conviction, the removed officer or employee is ineligible to be appointed or elected to a public 

office in Texas, to be re-employed by the city, or to receive any compensation through a contract 

with that city.  Id. § 252.063.   

 

Regarding public works contracts under Government Code Chapter 2269, a contract entered into 

in violation of the chapter is voidable as against public policy. TEX. GOV’T CODE § 2269.451. 

http://www.tml.org/
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The chapter may be enforced through an action for declaratory or injunctive relief filed not later 

than the 10th day after the date on which the contract is awarded. Id. § 2269.452.   

 

Where can I find more information about competitive procurement laws? 

 

The Texas Municipal League publishes a comprehensive document called “Texas Municipal 

Procurement Made Easy,” which is available on the “Legal Resources” page at www.tml.org. 

http://www.tml.org/

